1996

West Valley City v. Caree F. McDonald : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by virtue of § 78-2a-3(e), U.C.A.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, STANDARD OF REVIEW, AND PRESERVATION OF ISSUE

1. **Issue**: Whether the trial court erred as a matter of law in ruling that the City has the power and authority to reduce the penalty portion of § 41-6-12, *U.C.A.*, from a Class C misdemeanor to an Infraction.

Standard of Review: This issue is a question of law and is therefore reviewed for correctness. *See State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935-40 (Utah 1994) (issue of waiver of constitutional rights is reviewed for correctness); *State v. McDonald*, 922 P.2d 776, 781 (Utah Ct. App. 1996).

Preservation of Issue: This issue was preserved at the end of oral argument on the Defendant's/Appellant's Motion for Jury Trial (R. 74.), and the Defendant/Appellant timely filed on July 16, 1996, her Notice of Appeal. (R. 55.)

2. **Issue:** Whether the trial court abused its discretion in permitting the City to amend its initial Information where the trial court failed to follow and hold the City to the provisions of Rule 4(d), *Utah R. Cr. P.*, and where such amendment prejudiced Caree's right to a trial by jury.

Standard of Review: This is an abuse of discretion issue and is reviewed for reasonableness. *See State v. Horton*, 848 P.2d 708, 714 (Utah Ct. App.), *cert. denied*, 857 P.2d 948 (Utah 1993).

Preservation of Issue: This issue was raised after oral argument on the Defendant's/Appellant's Motion for Jury Trial, (R. 5-6.) and the Defendant/Appellant timely filed on July 16, 1996, her Notice of Appeal. (R. 74.)

3. **Issue:** Whether the trial court erred in imposing a fine which substantially exceeds the Uniform Fine/Bail Schedule when no aggravating circumstances were present and the trial court made no findings which would reasonably justify such enhancement of the basic fine set forth by the Schedule.

Standard of Review: This issue is a matter of discretion and is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, except where the court's ruling is based upon a conclusion of law, and then it is reviewed for correctness. *See State v. Russell*, 791 P.2d 188, 192 (Utah 1990).

Preservation of Issue: This issue was raised when the Defendant/Appellant timely filed on July 16, 1996, her Notice of Appeal. (R. 74.)

4. **Issue:** Whether the trial court abused its discretion in (1) denying a hearing on Caree's Motion for Jury Trial on a date prior to the trial, and (2) denying her a continuance after denying her Motion where such denial substantially prejudiced her.

Standard of Review: This issue is a matter of discretion and is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, except where the court's ruling is based upon a conclusion of law, and then it is reviewed for correctness. *See State v. Russell*, 791 P.2d 188, 192 (Utah 1990).

Preservation of Issue: This issue was raised when the Defendant/Appellant timely filed on July 16, 1996, her Notice of Appeal. (R. 74.)

5. **Issue**: Whether the trial court abused its discretion in imposing a penalty on Caree that substantially exceeds the Uniform Fine/Bail schedule without finding any aggravating factors because such abuse has a chilling effect on Caree's right to trial and obviously prejudiced her.

Standard of Review: This issue is a matter of discretion and is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, except where the court's ruling is based upon a conclusion of law, and then it is reviewed for correctness. *See State v. Russell*, 791 P.2d 188, 192 (Utah 1990).

Preservation of Issue: This issue was raised when the Defendant/Appellant timely filed on July 16, 1996, her Notice of Appeal. (R. 74.)

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

UTAH CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE I, SECTION 10 (in part):

In capital cases the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate. . . . A jury in civil cases shall be waived unless demanded. (emphasis added).

UTAH CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE I, SECTION 12 (in part):

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel, . . . [and] to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury . . . (emphasis added).

UTAH CONSTITUTION, AMENDMENT VII:

In Suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury, shall be otherwise re-examined in any Court of the United States, than according to the rules of the common law.

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, § 41-6-12 (pertinent part):

(1) A violation of any provision of this chapter is a class C misdemeanor, unless otherwise provided.

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, § 41-6-16 (pertinent part):

The provisions of this chapter are applicable and uniform throughout this state and in all of its political subdivisions and municipalities. A local authority may not enact or enforce any rule or ordinance in conflict with the provisions of this chapter. . .

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, § 41-6-46 (pertinent part):

(1) A person may not operate a vehicle at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the existing conditions, . . .

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, § 76-3-102:

Offenses are designated as felonies, misdemeanors, or infractions.

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, § 76-3-105:

- (1) Infractions are not classified.
- (2) Any offense which is an infraction within this code is expressly designated and any offense define outside this code which is not designated as a felony or misdemeanor and for which no penalty is specified is an infraction.

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, § 77-1-6 (pertinent part):

- (1) In criminal prosecutions the defendant is entitled:
 -
 - (f) To a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district where the offense is alleged to have been committed;
- (2) In addition:
 -
 - (e) No person shall be convicted unless by verdict of a jury, or upon a plea of guilty or no contest, or upon a judgment of a court when trial by jury has been waived or, in case of an infraction, upon a judgment by a magistrate.

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, § 78-21-1:

In actions for the recovery of specific real or personal property, with or without damages, or for money claimed as due upon contract or as damages for breach of contract, or for injuries, an issue of fact may be tried by a jury, unless a jury trial is waived or a reference is ordered.

UTAH RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE, RULE 4(d) (pertinent part):

(a) Unless otherwise provided, all offenses shall be prosecuted by indictment or information sworn to by a person having reason to believe the offense has been committed.

....

(d) The court may permit an indictment or information to be amended at any time before verdict if no additional or different offense is charged and the substantial rights of the defendant are not prejudiced. . . .

UTAH RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE, RULE 17 (pertinent part):

(a) In all cases the defendant shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel. . . .

....

(c) All felony cases shall be tried by jury unless the defendant waives a jury in open court with the approval of the court and the consent of the prosecution.

(d) All other cases shall be tried without a jury unless the defendant makes written demand at least ten days prior to trial, or the court orders otherwise. No jury shall be allowed in the trial of an infraction.

UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, RULE 38 (pertinent part):

(a) Right preserved. The right of trial by jury as declared by the constitution or as given by statute shall be preserved to the parties.

(b) Demand. Any party may demand a trial by jury of any issue triable of right by a jury by paying the statutory jury fee. . .

...

(d) . . . A demand for trial by jury made as herein provided may not be withdrawn without the consent of the parties.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The Plaintiff/Appellee, West Valley City ("City"), a political subdivision of the State of Utah, initiated this action pursuant to § 41-6-46, *U.C.A.*, against the Defendant/Appellant Caree F. McDonald ("Caree") by issuing a summons and citation to her for allegedly speeding on January 6, 1996, in West Valley City, Utah. (R. 1.) Caree was specifically charged with driving at a speed of 51 miles per hour in a 40 mile per hour speed zone, or 11 MPH over the posted speed limit. (R. 1, 5.)

2. Pursuant to § 41-6-12, *U.C.A.*, the penalty for violating § 41-6-46, *U.C.A.*, is a Class C Misdemeanor. *See Addendum 1*; (R. 5.)

3. The Uniform Fine/Bail Schedule provides for a \$50.00 fine when the offender is guilty of speeding 11-15 miles per hour in excess of the speed limit. *See Addendum 4*.

4. The City relied on Photo Radar as the sole means of determining the speed of Caree's vehicle. (R. 6.)

5. Caree resides in West Valley City, Utah, and has no record of any other traffic violations within the past five years. (R. 5.)

6. After a pre-trial conference, a trial was set for June 20, 1996. (R. 24.)

7. On May 22, 1996, Caree made her demand for a jury trial. (R. 25.)

8. On June 7, 1996, the City's Prosecutor filed an amended Information in which the penalty was reduced from a Class C Misdemeanor to an Infraction. (R. 32.)

9. On June 13, 1996, the trial court informed Caree that she would not be entitled to a jury trial since the City, through its Prosecutor, had amended the Information and had

reduced the penalty from a Class C Misdemeanor to an Infraction. (R. 34.)

10. On the same day, June 13, 1996, Caree filed a Motion for Jury Trial and requested “Expedited Disposition” and that the trial court set a hearing prior to the day of trial. (R. 36-42.) Notwithstanding Caree’s request, the trial court refused to set a hearing on her Motion for Jury Trial.

11. On June 20, 1996, the date set for trial, the trial court denied Caree’s Motion for Jury Trial. (R. 74.)¹ The trial court also denied Caree’s Motion for Continuance, which was orally made to the trial court immediately upon the trial court’s denial of a jury trial. (R. 34.)

12. The trial court forced Caree to proceed with a bench trial. (R. 75.) Caree, upon observing the hostile and brusque demeanor of the trial judge, desired to consider the Prosecutor’s plea offer. (R. 74.) However, the Prosecutor unexpectedly informed Caree and the trial court that the plea offer had expired the day prior to trial and prior to the hearing on Caree’s request for a jury trial. (R. 74.) Thus, the plea offer was withdrawn. (R. 74.)

13. The trial court proceeded with a bench trial and found Caree guilty of speeding as charged. (R. 76.)

¹ The trial court characterized its own action as merely approving the City’s action in amending the Information to an Infraction. (R. 75.) However, the trial court’s statement that “My ruling isn’t denying your client a jury trial,” strains the court’s credibility. (R. 75.)

14. The trial court then imposed, without finding any aggravating circumstances, a fine amount of \$60.00, an amount that exceeds by 20% the Uniform Fine/Bail Schedule and which exceeds the amount that Caree could have paid prior to the trial without considering any plea offer. (R. 44, 77.); *Addendum 4*. In addition, the trial court imposed a time and cost requirement for Caree to attend a Safety Driver's School at an additional cost of \$30.00. (R. 44-45, 47, 77.) The trial court failed to find any aggravating circumstances. (R. 76-75.) In fact, Caree stated to the trial court that she had no other traffic violations within the past five years. (R. 76.)

15. On July 15, 1996, Caree filed her Notice of Appeal, her Motion for Stay of Fine, and her Application for Certificate of Probable Cause. (R. 48-58.) On August 6, 1996, at the conclusion of oral argument before the Honorable Judith S.H. Atherton, the trial court granted Caree's Motion for Stay of Fine.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred as a matter of law in ruling that the City has the power and authority to reduce the penalty portion of § 41-6-12, *U.C.A.*, from a Class C misdemeanor to an Infraction. Utah Code Annotated § 41-6-16, *U.C.A.*, expressly prohibits the City from enacting or enforcing an ordinance or rule that is inconsistent with the provisions of Chapter 6, Title 41. Hence, the City, nor its agent (i.e., the City's Prosecutor), had no authority to change the penalty for speeding from a Class C Misdemeanor to an

Infraction.

II. The trial court also impermissibly permitted the City to amend its Information without regard to Rule 4(d), *Utah R. Cr. P.*, and without considering that such amendment denied Caree her substantial right to a trial by jury.

III. Even if, *arguendo*, the City could reduce the penalty for speeding from a Class C misdemeanor to an Infraction, the trial court erred in denying Caree a trial by jury because Utah's Constitution guarantees to Caree her right to a trial by jury. Whereas Utah's Constitution places no limits on Caree's right to trial by jury, Utah Code Annotated § 77-1-6(2)(e) impermissibly limits Caree's right to a trial by jury where the penalty is an Infraction. However, the Constitution does not carve out a classification for an "infraction" that is separate from "criminal" or "civil." Since the Constitution clearly grants all "criminal" and all "civil" actions the right to trial by jury, Utah Code Annotated § 77-1-6(2)(e) is without constitutional support.

IV. The trial abused its discretion in not setting a hearing on Caree's Motion for Jury Trial on a date prior to the date of trial and in not granting a continuance after denying Caree's Motion for Jury Trial because the burden on the trial court was slight, if any, and substantially prejudiced Caree.

V. The trial court, without finding any aggravating circumstances, abused its discretion by imposing a fine that is substantially greater than would have been imposed if Caree had simply plead guilty. The trial court's actions cast a disturbing chill over a

defendant's right to trial. In this instance, the trial court, in effect, penalized Caree simply because she elected to have a trial.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred as a matter of law in ruling that the City has the power and authority to reduce the penalty portion of § 41-6-12, U.C.A., from a Class C misdemeanor to an Infraction.

Caree was charged by the City with speeding pursuant to the State's speeding statute, § 41-6-46, *U.C.A.* (R. 1.) The penalty for such violation is governed by § 41-6-12, *U.C.A.*, which states in part:

(1) A violation of any provision of this chapter is a class C misdemeanor, unless otherwise provided.

§ 41-6-12, *U.C.A.*

The City acknowledged that the penalty for speeding is a Class C misdemeanor when it filed its Information on April 15, 1996. *Addendum 1*; (R. 5.) The Information states in part:

Count 1: SPEEDING, a Class "C" misdemeanor, § 41-6-46, *U.C.A.* 1953, as amended, by operating a motor vehicle...

Addendum 1; (R. 5.)

The City's Information unequivocally declared the penalty for Caree's alleged violation to be a Class "C" misdemeanor. The Information also expressly referenced § 41-6-46, *U.C.A.*, for its authority.

Pursuant to Rule 17(d), *Utah R. Cr. P.*, Caree filed her jury demand, on May 23, 1996. The City, without the trial court's permission, filed its Amended Information on June 7, 1997.² *See Addendum 2*; (R. 25, 32.) The Amended Information is identical to the City's initial Information except that "a Class C misdemeanor" is replaced with "an Infraction." *See Addendum 2*; (R. 32.) The Amended Information also references § 41-6-46, *U.C.A.*, for its authority.

The City entirely ignored § 41-6-16, *U.C.A.*, even though this particular Code section was expressly brought to the City's attention in Caree's Motion for Jury Trial. *See* (R. 36-40.) This Code section governs the provisions of Chapter 6, Title 41:

The provisions of this chapter are applicable and uniform throughout this state and in all of its political subdivisions and municipalities. A local authority may not enact or enforce any rule or ordinance in conflict with the provisions of this chapter. Local authorities may, however, adopt ordinances consistent with this chapter, and additional traffic ordinances which are not in conflict with this chapter.

§ 41-6-16, *U.C.A.* (emphasis added).

Section 41-6-16 is clear and unambiguous. The City is not permitted to "enact or enforce any rule or ordinance in conflict with the provisions of § 41-6-12, *U.C.A.*, which defines the penalty for a violation of § 41-6-46, *U.C.A.*, as a "Class C misdemeanor." *See Allgood v. Larson*, 545 P.2d 530, 532 (Utah 1976); *Richfield City v. Walker*, 790 P.2d 87, 90 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) ("penalty portion of an ordinance is void if it

² The City never petitioned the trial court nor filed a motion for permission to amend its Information, although Rule 4(d), *Utah R. Cr. P.*, expressly governs the procedure for amending an information.

conflicts with the general state law governing the subject”).

In *Allgood*, the court concluded that cities may not exceed the “public policy declared by the legislature.” *See Allgood*, 545 P.2d 530 at 532. The *Allgood* court also concluded that the treatise, McQuillin, correctly states Utah law:

If the ordinance penalty conflicts with that of the general law of the State covering the same subject, the ordinance penalty is void.

5 McQuillin, MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS §17.15 at 326 (3d Ed.)

In the instant case, the City’s actions, changing the penalty from that set by § 41-6-12, directly conflicts with State law. Moreover, even without the provisions of § 41-6-16, which expressly forbids the City from actions which are inconsistent with the provisions of Chapter 6 of Title 41, the City is prohibited from setting a different penalty for speeding, since the State has expressly enacted laws covering the subject of speeding and setting forth the penalties for speeding violations. *See* 5 McQuillin, MUNICIPAL CORPORATIONS §17.15 at 326 (3d Ed.)

II. The trial court abused its discretion in permitting the City to amend its initial Information because the trial court failed to follow and hold the City to the provisions of Rule 4(d), Utah R. Cr. P., and because such amendment prejudiced Caree’s right to a trial by jury.

Rule 4(d), *Utah R. Cr. P.*, governs amendments to an information:

(a) Unless otherwise provided, all offenses shall be prosecuted by indictment or information sworn to by a person having reason to believe the offense has been committed. . . .

(d) The court may permit an indictment or information to be amended at any time before verdict if no additional or different offense is charged and the substantial rights of the defendant are not prejudiced. . . .

Rule 4(d), *Utah R. Cr. P.*

It is well established that Caree's right to a jury trial is a substantial right. *See State v. Cook*, 714 P.2d 296, 297-98 (Utah 1986) (a "criminal defendant's right to a jury trial is substantial and valuable and should be carefully safeguarded by our courts"). In *Cook*, the court also concluded that:

Had defendant been tried before a jury, the prosecution's failure to prove the offense charged might have resulted in an acquittal [rather than merely failing to prove the felony]. *Id.* at 298.

In the instant case, had Caree been tried before a jury, Caree might have been acquitted. Therefore, Caree's right to a jury trial is clearly substantial.

Caree timely filed her demand for a jury trial. (R. 25.) Two weeks after filing her demand, the City amended its Information without petitioning the trial court for permission, (R. 32.), which effectively denied Caree her statutory right to a trial by jury. The trial court never discussed Rule 4(d) nor the prejudice to Caree caused by the City's Amended Information. The trial court's actions were clearly in error where the City's Amended Information effectively eliminated Caree's statutory right to a trial by jury. Moreover, the City's purpose in amending its Information was for the sole purpose of denying Caree a jury trial.

III. Even if, arguendo, the City could reduce the penalty from a Class C misdemeanor to an Infraction, the trial court erred in denying Caree a trial by jury because Utah's Constitution guarantees to Caree a right to a trial by jury.

Utah's Constitution grants to every citizen, including Caree, the right to a trial by jury. Sections 10 and 12 and Amendment VII provide Caree's right to a trial by jury:

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel, [and] to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury

UTAH CONST. § 12 (emphasis added).

In capital cases the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate. .
A jury in civil cases shall be waived unless demanded.

UTAH CONST. § 10 (emphasis added).

In Suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury, shall be otherwise re-examined in any Court of the United States, than according to the rules of the common law.

UTAH CONST., Amendment VII (emphasis added).

Utah Code Annotated also generally reaffirms Caree's right to a trial by jury. If Caree's alleged violation is deemed to be criminal, § 77-1-6, *U.C.A.*, applies:

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