1996

West Valley City v. Caree F. McDonald : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Appellate jurisdiction over this case is rested in the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Section 78-2a-3(2)(e), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. DOES DEFENDANT CAREE F. MCDONALD ("MCDONALD") HAVE A RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL FOR A "PETTY" OFFENSE SUCH AS A MINOR TRAFFIC VIOLATION?

This issue is a conclusion of law, and should be reviewed on a "correctness" standard. *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994).

- II. IS IT WITHIN THE POWER OF THE TRIAL COURT, PRIOR TO TRIAL, TO LIMIT THE POTENTIAL SENTENCE THAT MAY BE IMPOSED BY REDUCING THE POTENTIAL SENTENCE FOR A SPEEDING VIOLATION FROM A CLASS "C" MISDEMEANOR TO AN INFRACTION?

This issue is a conclusion of law, and should be reviewed on a "correctness" standard. *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994).

- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING MCDONALD'S REQUEST THAT THE HEARING ON HER MOTION FOR JURY TRIAL BE HELD PRIOR TO THE DAY OF TRIAL, AND IN DENYING HER MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE AFTER THE COURT HAD DENIED THE MOTION FOR JURY TRIAL?

This issue is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and should be reviewed on an "abuse of discretion" standard. *State v. Cabututan*, 861 P.2d 408 (Utah 1993).

IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION
IN SENTENCING MCDONALD TO A FINE THAT
EXCEEDS THE RECOMMENDED FINE SET FORTH IN
THE UNIFORM FINE SCHEDULE?

This issue is within the sound discretion of the trial court,
and should be reviewed on an "abuse of discretion" standard.
State v. Yoder, 935 P.2d 534 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS,
STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND RULES**

United States Constitution, Amendment VI:

[Rights of accused.]

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of counsel for his defence.

Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 10:

Sec. 10. [Trial by jury.]

In capital cases the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate. In courts of general jurisdiction, except in capital cases, a jury shall consist of eight jurors. In courts of inferior jurisdiction a jury shall consist of four jurors. In criminal cases the verdict shall be unanimous. In civil cases, three-fourths of the jurors may find a verdict. A jury in civil cases shall be waived unless demanded. 1896

Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 12:

Sec. 12. [Rights of accused persons.]

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify in his own behalf, to be confronted by the witnesses against him, to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf, to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district in which the offense is alleged to have been

committed, and the right to appeal in all cases. In no instance shall any accused person, before final judgment, be compelled to advance money or fees to secure the rights herein guaranteed. The accused shall not be compelled to give evidence against himself; a wife shall not be compelled to testify against her husband, nor a husband against his wife, nor shall any person be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense.

Where the defendant is otherwise entitled to a preliminary examination, the function of that examination is limited to determining whether probable cause exists unless otherwise provided by statute. Nothing in this constitution shall preclude the use of reliable hearsay evidence as defined by statute or rule in whole or in part at any preliminary examination to determine probable cause or at any pretrial proceeding with respect to release of the defendant if appropriate discovery is allowed as defined by statute or rule.

1994

Utah Code Annotated, Section 76-3-204:

76-3-204. Misdemeanor conviction - Term of imprisonment.

A person who has been convicted of a misdemeanor may be sentenced to imprisonment as follows:

- (1) In the case of a class A misdemeanor, for a term not exceeding one year;
- (2) In the case of a class B misdemeanor, for a term not exceeding six months;
- (3) In the case of a class C misdemeanor, for a term not exceeding ninety days.

Utah Code Annotated, Section 76-3-301:

76-3-301. Fines of persons.

(1) A person convicted of an offense may be sentenced to pay a fine, not exceeding:

- (a) \$10,000 for a felony conviction of the first degree or second degree;
- (b) \$5,000 for a felony conviction of the third degree;
- (c) \$2,500 for a class A misdemeanor conviction;
- (d) \$1,000 for a class B misdemeanor conviction;
- (e) \$750 for a class C misdemeanor conviction or infraction conviction; and
- (f) any greater amounts specifically authorized by statute.

(2) This section does not apply to a corporation, association, partnership, government, or governmental instrumentality.

Utah Code Annotated, Section 76-3-301.5:

76-3-301.5. Uniform fine schedule - Judicial Council.

(1) The Judicial Council shall establish a uniform recommended fine schedule for each offense under Subsection 76-3-301(1).

(a) The fine for each offense shall proportionally reflect the seriousness of the offense and other factors as determined in writing by the Judicial Council.

(b) The schedule shall be reviewed annually by the Judicial Council.

(c) The fines shall be collected under Section 77-18-1.

(2) The schedule shall incorporate:

(a) criteria for determining aggravating and mitigating circumstances; and

(b) guidelines for enhancement or reduction of the fine, based on aggravating or mitigating circumstances.

(3) Presentence investigation reports shall include documentation of aggravating and mitigating circumstances as determined under the criteria, and a recommended fine under the schedule.

(4) The Judicial Council shall also establish a separate uniform recommended fine schedule for the juvenile court and by rule provide for its implementation.

(5) This section does not prohibit the court from in its discretion imposing no fine, or a fine in any amount up to and including the maximum fine, for the offense.

Utah Code Annotated, Section 77-1-6:

77-1-6. Rights of defendant.

(1) In criminal prosecutions the defendant is entitled:

(a) To appear in person and defend in person or by counsel;

(b) To receive a copy of the accusation filed against him;

(c) To testify in his own behalf;

(d) To be confronted by the witnesses against him;

(e) To have compulsory process to insure the attendance of witnesses in his behalf;

(f) To a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district where the offense is alleged to have been committed;

(g) To the right of appeal in all cases; and
(h) To be admitted to bail in accordance with provisions of law, or be entitled to a trial within 30 days after arraignment if unable to post bail and if the business of the court permits.

(2) In addition:

(a) No person shall be put twice in jeopardy for the same offense;

(b) No accused person shall, before final judgment, be compelled to advance money or fees to secure rights guaranteed by the Constitution or the laws of Utah, or to pay the costs of those rights when received;

(c) No person shall be compelled to give evidence against himself;

(d) A wife shall not be compelled to testify against her husband nor a husband against his wife; and

(e) No person shall be convicted unless by verdict of a jury, or upon a plea of guilty or no contest, or upon a judgment of a court when trial by jury has been waived or, in case of an infraction, upon a judgment by a magistrate.

Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 4:

Rule 4. Prosecution of public offenses.

(a) Unless otherwise provided, all offenses shall be prosecuted by indictment or information sworn to by a person having reason to believe the offense has been committed.

(b) An indictment or information shall charge the offense for which the defendant is being prosecuted by using the name given to the offense by common law or by statute or by stating in concise terms the definition of the offense sufficient to give the defendant notice of the charge. An information may contain or be accompanied by a statement of facts sufficient to make out probable cause to sustain the offense charged where appropriate. Such things as time, place, means, intent, manner, value and ownership need not be alleged unless necessary to charge the offense. Such things as money, securities, written instruments, pictures, statutes and judgments may be described by any name or description by which they are generally known or by which they may be identified without setting forth a copy. However, details concerning such things may be obtained through a bill of particulars. Neither presumptions of law nor matters of judicial notice need be stated.

(c) The court may strike any surplus or improper language from an indictment or information.

(d) The court may permit an indictment or information to be amended at any time before verdict if no additional or different offense is charged and the substantial rights of the defendant are not prejudiced. After verdict, an indictment or information may be amended so as to state the offense with such particularity as to bar a subsequent prosecution for the same offense upon the same set of facts.

(e) When facts not set out in an information or indictment are required to inform a defendant of the nature and cause of the offense charged, so as to enable him to prepare his defense, the defendant may file a written motion for a bill of particulars. The motion shall be filed at arraignment or within ten days thereafter, or at such later time as the court may permit. The court may, on its own motion, direct the filing of a bill of particulars. A bill of particulars may be amended or supplemented at any time subject to such conditions as justice may require. The request for and contents of a bill of particulars shall be limited to a statement of factual information needed to set forth the essential elements of the particular offense charged.

(f) An indictment or information shall not be held invalid because any name contained therein may be incorrectly spelled or stated.

(g) It shall not be necessary to negate any exception, excuse or proviso contained in the statute creating or defining the offense.

(h) Words and phrases used are to be construed according to their usual meaning unless they are otherwise defined by law or have acquired a legal meaning.

(i) Use of the disjunctive rather than the conjunctive shall not invalidate the indictment or information.

(j) The names of witnesses on whose evidence an indictment or information was based shall be endorsed thereon before it is filed. Failure to endorse shall not affect the validity but endorsement shall be ordered by the court on application of the defendant. Upon request the prosecuting attorney shall, except upon a showing of good cause, furnish the names of other witnesses he proposes to call whose names are not so endorsed.

(k) If the defendant is a corporation, a summons shall issue directing it to appear before the magistrate. Appearance may be by an officer or counsel. Proceedings against a corporation shall be the same as against a natural person.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves a prosecution and conviction in the Third Judicial District Court, West Valley Department, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, for a violation of Section 41-6-46, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, "Speeding."

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Prosecution in this case was commenced by the filing of charges against Defendant Caree F. McDonald on February 5, 1996. The actual date of the speeding violation, which was detected by the use of photo-radar, was January 6, 1996. (Record, p. 1.) On April 15, 1996, the City filed an Information, formally charging McDonald with a violation of Section 41-6-46. (Record, p. 5.) A pretrial conference was held before Judge Esqueda on May 1, 1996. McDonald was represented by counsel at the pretrial hearing; however, the case was not resolved and was set for a bench trial.

On May 7, 1996, McDonald filed a Motion to Dismiss (Record, pp. 8-9), to which the City filed a response (Record, pp. 27-31).

On June 7, 1996, the City filed an Amended Information. (Record, pp. 32-33.) The Amended Information contained the same speeding charges as the original Information, but reduced the penalty from class "C" misdemeanor to infraction status. This Amended Information was accepted by the trial court. On June 13, 1996, McDonald filed a Motion for Jury Trial.

On January 20, 1996, following a hearing on the matter, the trial judge denied McDonald's Motion to Dismiss and her Motion for Jury Trial, and then recessed to handle other matters. Upon resuming this case, the trial court denied McDonald's Motion for Continuance and proceeded to trial.

DISPOSITION IN TRIAL COURT

At the bench trial on June 20, 1996, the trial court convicted McDonald of speeding. The trial judge imposed fines and assessments in the amount of \$60 and required McDonald to complete traffic school. (Record, pp. 44-45.) McDonald's Notice of Appeal was filed on July 16, 1996. (Record, p. 55.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. MCDONALD DOES NOT HAVE THE RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL FOR A "PETTY" OFFENSE SUCH AS A MINOR TRAFFIC VIOLATION.

There exists no Utah case law interpreting the "right to a jury" provisions of the Utah Constitution. Therefore, it is appropriate to look to interpretations of analogous provisions of the United States Constitution for guidance in interpreting the Utah Constitution. The United States Supreme Court has unequivocally determined that no right to a jury under the United States Constitution exists for "petty" offenses. The classification of an offense as "petty" is determined by examining potential penalties and is based upon the historical lack of a right to a jury trial in "petty" cases. The interpretation of the

Utah Constitution based upon this type of analysis leads to the conclusion that McDonald was not entitled to a jury trial regardless of whether she was charged with a class "C" misdemeanor or an infraction, since both would be classified as "petty" offenses. This is especially true since the Utah Constitution provision regarding the right to a jury trial was drafted in more narrow language than the analogous United States Constitution provision. McDonald's alternate arguments founded upon Article I, Section 10 of the Utah Constitution and Section 77-1-6 of the Utah Code likewise do not establish her right to a jury trial.

II. IT IS WITHIN THE POWER OF THE TRIAL COURT, PRIOR TO TRIAL, TO ELIMINATE INCARCERATION AS A POTENTIAL PENALTY THAT MAY BE IMPOSED, BY REDUCING THE POTENTIAL SENTENCE FOR A SPEEDING VIOLATION FROM A CLASS "C" MISDEMEANOR TO AN INFRACTION.

McDonald's argument regarding the reduction in the penalty for speeding from a class "C" misdemeanor to an infraction focuses on the power of the prosecutor to make such a change. This argument mischaracterizes the issue. It is not the power of the prosecutor, but rather the discretion of the trial court judge, that allows this reduction in penalty to take place. The only effect of reducing the charge from a class "C" misdemeanor to an infraction is a reduction in the penalty that may be imposed by the trial judge. By allowing amendment of the charge down to an infraction, the trial judge is agreeing, prior to trial, to exclude incarceration from among his sentencing options. Trial court

judges in Utah are granted wide latitude with regard to their sentencing decisions, and this is simply an action within the judge's discretion with regard to sentencing.

McDonald's arguments regarding the City's and the trial court judge's failure to follow Rule 4(d) of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure are without merit. Contrary to McDonald's assertion, Rule 4(d) does not require the City to petition the court for permission to file an Amended Information. Also, McDonald has provided no credible argument that a reduction in the possible penalty associated with her offense has deprived her of any substantial right.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING MCDONALD'S REQUEST THAT THE HEARING ON HER MOTION FOR JURY TRIAL BE HELD PRIOR TO THE DAY OF TRIAL, AND IN DENYING HER MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE AFTER THE TRIAL COURT HAD DENIED THE MOTION FOR JURY TRIAL.

Utah trial courts are granted a great deal of discretion with respect to scheduling matters and granting or denying Motions for Continuance. Absent a clear abuse of that discretion, the trial court's decisions will not be disturbed on appeal. In this case, McDonald has failed to show any abuse of discretion whatsoever on the part of the trial judge. Her arguments are in conflict and confusing. First, she argues that the hearing on her Motion for Jury Trial should not have been held on the same day the case was set for a bench trial. Part of her rationale on this argument is

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